OA 6-20-88

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 71,633

YOLANDA FELIX, as personal  
representative of the ESTATE OF  
KEVIN FELIX-BAPTISTE,

Petitioner,

vs.

HOFFMANN-LaROCHE, INC.; ROCHE  
BIOMEDICAL LABORATORIES, INC.;  
BINDLEY WESTERN INDUSTRIES, INC.;  
GRAY DRUG STORES, INC.; GRAY DRUG  
STORES, INC. OF MIAMI; THE  
SHERWIN WILLIAMS COMPANY, and  
LESTER M. WACHMAN,

Respondents,

**FILED**  
SID J. WHITE  
MAY 6 1988  
CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By \_\_\_\_\_  
Deputy Clerk

\*\*\*\*\*

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ON THE MERITS

\*\*\*\*\*

LAW OFFICES OF JEFFREY P. KAISER  
15476 N.W. 77th Court - Suite 315  
Miami Lakes, Florida 33016  
Phone: (305) 822-8484

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

### INTRODUCTION:

Petitioner, Yolanda Felix, as Personal Representative of the estate of Kevin Felix-Baptiste, was Plaintiff in the Circuit Court of the 11th Judicial Circuit in and for Dade County, Florida and Appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal. Respondents, Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc., Roche Biomedical Laboratories, Bindley-Western Industries, Gray Drug Stores, Inc., Gray Drug Stores Inc. of Miami, The Sherwin Williams Company, and Lester M. Wachman, were Defendants in the Circuit Court and Appellees in the Third District Court of Appeal.

Decedent, Kevin Felix-Baptiste, died on November 24, 1983, having been born June 26, 1983 with multiple, severe birth defects, as a proximate result of a prescription drug prescribed to his mother for acne in October 1982 when she was pregnant. The drug, Accutane, had been placed on the market in September 1982 by Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc. Hoffmann-LaRoche disseminated printed advertisements, warnings and product information about the product aimed at physicians, including wording which it referred to as its "package insert."

A wrongful death action against Hoffmann-LaRoche was filed September 4, 1984, in Dade County Circuit Court by the personal representative of the decedent's estate.

A Summary Judgment was entered in Circuit Court on all counts in favor of the product's manufacturer, distributors, retailers and the manufacturer's detailman (promotional salesman), on May 13, 1986. (R.A. 3814).

The Summary Judgment was appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal via timely Notice of Appeal filed July 14, 1986. (R.A. 3538-3539).

The Third District Court of Appeal issued a written opinion on September 29, 1987, affirming the Summary Judgment. Felix v. Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc., (R.A. 4913-4915). The Third District's written opinion addressed only one point of several raised before it in the appeal.

A Motion for Re-Hearing or Clarification of the Third District's decision was timely filed pursuant to Rule 9.330 of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure on October 14, 1987. The Third District entered an Order denying that motion on November 17, 1987. (R.A. 4916).

Petitioner herein timely filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this court in accordance with Rule 9.120(b) of the Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

On March 18, 1988, this Supreme Court entered its Order Accepting Jurisdiction and Setting Oral Argument. On April 12, 1988, this Court granted Petitioner's request to extend time for filing her initial brief, ordering that same be served by May 2, 1988.

Petitioner concurrently seeks review of the denial of her motion for rehearing and/or clarification of the final summary judgment (R.A. 3817-3818) and the denial of her motion to strike notice of hearing and/or to continue hearing on the motion for summary judgment (R.A. 3821-3823).

The record on appeal for this case was consolidated by the Third District Court of Appeal with the record for Case No. 71,634 for purposes of appeal by Order of the Third District Court entered September 26, 1986. On July 10, 1985, discovery proceedings at the trial level were consolidated (R.A. 3242-3244), and therefore a single record exists as to the two cases.

Petitioner will hereafter refer to Respondent, Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc., as "Hoffmann," and Respondent, Roche Biomedical Laboratories, Inc., as "Roche."

#### NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a wrongful death action (R.A. 934) alleging as to Respondents strict liability for their admitted manufacturing (R.A. 4100, 3906) and marketing (R.A. 3450, 3902) of a defective product, which is a prescription drug known as Accutane (R.A. 3906), having the generic name of Isotretinoin, a chemical derivative of 13-cis-retinoic acid, and a synthetic analog of Vitamin A (R.A. 3902), the use of which had resulted in fetal abnormality, and about which there was positive evidence of fetal risk (R.A. 932, 3912, 4103, 2396-2400, 3945-3953, 3432-3497) prior to the within incident (R.A. 3433-3438, 3507-3511), and which was distributed and sold by Respondents, or some of them, as a treatment for cystic acne (R.A. 3451, 4100). There are other cystic acne treatments available (R.A. 4106, 2396). Petitioner also seeks damages for negligence, breach of warranty, misbranded drugs and for fraudulent concealment (R.A. 936-937).



In 1982, Yolanda Felix became pregnant just before undergoing Accutane treatment for acne (R.A. 4100, 934). As a result of the Accutane in her body (R.A. 1405), her infant, Kevin Felix-Baptiste, was born with numerous, severe malformations (R.A. 934, 3428-3438, 3875-3879), on June 26, 1983 (R.A. 934), and died November 24, 1983 (R.A. 1405, 2396-2400). In August, 1983, the wording of package inserts published by Respondent Hoffmann, changed from those published in 1982 (R.A. 1432, 3483-3498). These facts are not in dispute (R.A. 1405, 1427, 1432, 4100).

#### The Case and Facts

##### A. Pleadings

Petitioner initially commenced this litigation on September 4, 1984 against only one of the Respondents, Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc., manufacturer of Accutane (R.A. 1-14). Respondents Roche Lester M. Wachman, Bindley-Western Industries, Inc., Gray Drug Stores, Inc., of Miami, and Gray Drug Stores Inc., became parties by the Interim Amended Complaint (R.A. 839-887), following two Orders allowing the amendment of the Complaint (R.A. 405, R.A. 813), delayed because of the difficulty Petitioner had in identifying these parties through discovery (R.A. 930-994). It was not until Petitioner filed the Third Amended Complaint on November 25, 1985 (R.A. 930-994) that Respondent The Sherwin Williams Company (hereinafter Sherwin-Williams), owner of Respondent Gray Drug Stores, Inc., of Miami, and Gray Drug Stores Inc., (hereinafter Gray Drug Stores), was named as a party defendant (R.A. 974-977).

Four of the Respondents filed Answers and Affirmative Defenses to the Third Amended Complaint, (R.A. 1175-1180) Sherwin Williams; (R.A. 1288-1292). Roche; (R.A. 1293-1298) Hoffmann; and (R.A. 1299-1303) Wachman. In March and April, 1986, Petitioner filed her Replies to Respondents' Affirmative Defenses (R.A. 1225-1226) Sherwin Williams; (R.A. 1304-1306) Wachman; (R.A. 1307-1309) Hoffmann; and (R.A. 1310-1312) Roche. The other three Respondents relied on Motions to Dismiss filed in 1985 (R.A. 1111-1113) Bindley Western Industries, Inc., (hereinafter Bindley Western); (R.A. 3316-3317) Gray Drug Stores, as of May 8, 1986 (R.A. 1389), the date of the hearing on Respondents' Motions for Summary Judgment (R.A. 782-786; R.A. 3449-3452).

On August 9, 1985, Respondent Hoffmann filed its Motion for Summary Judgment (R.A. 782-786), accompanied with an Affidavit (787-793) and Memorandum of Law (R.A. 801-812). On April 21, 1986, Counsel for Respondent Hoffmann filed one Motion for Summary Judgment for the remaining Respondents, adopting the Motion, Affidavit, and Memorandum of Law of Hoffmann on the stated basis of "contingent liability" (R.A. 3449-3450). These motions were heard May 8, 1986 (R.A. 1389-1484); and the Final Summary Judgment for Respondents (R.A. 3814) was not re-heard or clarified (R.A. 3817-3818), nor was Petitioner's Motion to Continue granted (R.A. 3821-3823).

B. Material Facts and Issues

In or about June, 1982, Respondent Hoffmann published a four-page package insert (R.A. 3915) which allegedly complied with Federal Food and Drug Administration labeling requirements (R.A. 3904) for wholesale distribution of the drug Accutane. A

copy of this publication is attached to Hoffmann's undated Answers to Plaintiff's Third Set of Interrogatories (R.A. 3945-3953). This same brochure is Exhibit "A" to the deposition of treating physician Gerald Greenwald, M.D., (R.A. 2489; and Deposition Exhibit 3 referred to between R.A. 3511 and R.A. 3512, [copy in portion of record contained in small box identified in index of record]). A similarly worded publication dated December, 1982 was also referred to as an Exhibit, Exhibit "B" to the deposition of Dr. Greenwald (R.A. 2489; and Deposition Exhibit 4 contained in boxed exhibits). From said package insert Hoffmann quoted in its Response to Request for Admissions #49 served April 3, 1984 (R.A. 3913). Said package insert is the primary subject of the Affidavit (R.A. 3482-3498) and Supplemental Affidavit (R.A. 3516-3519) of David Ziskind, Petitioner's expert witness; and attached to his Affidavit is a copy of the text of said package insert as it appeared in 1982 (R.A. 3491) and as it appeared subsequent to 1982 (R.A. 3497). A copy of the language used in August, 1983, which is the same language attached to the Affidavit of Dr. Ziskind, also appears boxed exhibits as Deposition Exhibit 21 (R.A. 2269-2270), and is referred to between R.A. 3511 and R.A. 3512. The wording in the "contraindications" portions of the 1982 package inserts differs markedly from the wording in the August, 1983 package insert. In August, 1983, the following phrase first appears:

**"Women of childbearing potential should not be given Accutane until pregnancy is excluded."  
Deposition Exhibit 21, (R.A. 2269-2270)**

This wording does not appear in the package inserts available to treating physician Gerald Greenwald, M.D., at the time he was treating Petitioner. Instead, the wording in the June and December, 1982 brochures, being without three paragraphs of specific directives, merely suggested:

"Because teratogenicity has been observed in animals given isotretinoin, patients who are pregnant or intend to become pregnant while undergoing treatment should not receive Accutane." Deposition Exhibit 4, R.A. 3589, referred to between R.A. 3511 and R.A. 3512,

By August, 1983, the "should" was changed to a bold "must". (R.A. 2269-2270).

On February 19, 1986, Respondents took the deposition of Fred O. Pasternack (R.A. 2211-2320), who had worked for a drug manufacturing firm as a liaison. On March 23, 1986, Petitioner served notice of filing the Affidavits of Paul Benke, M.D., who had authored at least one article on Accutane, and of Fred O. Pasternack, who discussed the marketing of Accutane (R.A. 3428-3438), along with the deposition transcript of Fred O. Pasternack (R.A. 2211-2320). On March 28, 1986, Respondents moved to exclude the Affidavit and deposition transcript of Fred O. Pasternack (R.A. 1227-1230). Hearing was scheduled May 2, 1986, re-scheduled before a different judge and heard May 6, 1986, and the Order was entered on May 7, 1986 (R.A. 1332-1334), the date before the hearing on Appellees' Motions for Summary Judgment.

On May 8, 1986, the Trial Court stated it would consider the Affidavit of Petitioner's Expert Witness David Ziskind (R.A. 1428, R.A. 3483-3498). Respondents' Motion to Strike the

Supplemental Affidavit of David Ziskind served May 13, 1986 (R.A. 3516-3519, of Paul Benke, M.D., R.A. 3503-3505, 3507-3511), and of Fred O. Pasternack (R.A. 3512-3515) was denied by Order entered June 13, 1986 (R.A. 1362-1364).

With reference to Petitioner's witness Fred O. Pasternack, during the May 2, 1986 hearing on Respondents' Motion, the Trial Judge (R.A. 3788-3790) asked that the Motion be scheduled before the Honorable John Gale to determine whether Fred O. Pasternack was qualified to testify as an expert in this case (R.A. 4098-4113). At the (non-evidentiary) hearing May 6, 1986 (R.A. 4098-4115), counsel for Respondents argued both sides of the issue of whether expert testimony was or was not needed on the issue of adequacy of warnings (R.A. 4103-4104), just as Respondents had been self-contradictory in the Motion on the subject (R.A. 1227-1228). At the hearing, counsel for Respondents stated on the one hand:

"There is nothing magical about the language in the package insert. It is plain English and it simply isn't subject to expert evaluation."  
(R.A. 4103).

and on the other hand:

"...it is impossible to seriously contend that simply getting a medical degree entitles a person to render an expert opinion on any medical issue." (R.A. 4105).

The outcome was an Order which did not exclude the Affidavit and deposition transcript, but struck them as testimony of an expert (R.A. 1332-1334, 4111), and this determination was read into the record at summary judgment hearing by the Trial Judge (R.A. 1392).

On Motion for Rehearing of the granting of summary judgment for Respondents, Petitioner reminded the Court that an additional period had been granted to Petitioner to file additional Affidavits, and the period did not expire until May 13, 1986, five days after the summary judgment hearing (R.A. 1340-1344). These Affidavits were therefore before the Court in considering the Motion of Petitioner to rehear the summary judgment hearing (R.A. 3503-3522), in addition to those previously filed (R.A. 3428-3498).

Attached and incorporated into the Affidavit of Paul Benke, M.D. (R.A. 3435-3438, 3507-3511) was a copy of the medical article written by Dr. Benke on the relationship of Accutane to the malformations suffered by Petitioner's infant son as well as the infant who is the subject of the companion case herein. The article made reference to studies of fetal deformity published in 1972 (R.A. 3438, 3511). Respondent Hoffmann admits a causal relationship between the use of Accutane during pregnancy and fetal defects (R.A. 3912, 1432). The written acknowledgement of this knowledge as it appears in the package insert published by Respondent Hoffmann in August, 1983 came after the Petitioner's first discovery that anything of this nature was wrong with her child (R.A. 1710), but preceded the infant's death by approximately three months (R.A. 1919).

Counsel for Petitioner, during the hearing on summary judgment, read to the Court portions of an article published November 19, 1984 (R.A. 1418-1419). This was a warning published by Appellee Hoffmann regarding the use of Accutane, and included was the requirement of a negative pregnancy test two weeks prior

to initiating therapy (R.A. 1418). This article was actually deposition Exhibit 16, contained in the record in the boxed exhibits, and filed with the Circuit Court May 6, 1986. Counsel for Respondents argued that this evidence would be precluded under Florida Statutes §90.704, "Subsequent Remedial Measures" claiming as such evidence would not be "admissible [at trial] to prove ... strict liability," and therefore should not be considered at the time of hearing on a motion for summary judgment (R.A. 1432-1434). Shortly after hearing this argument, the Court entered Final Summary Judgment for Respondents. (R.A. 1433). The article or publication quoted by counsel for Petitioner was already in the record, inasmuch as it was Deposition Exhibit 16, and is referred to in the Record on Appeal between R.A. 3511 and R.A. 3512. Although counsel for Respondents did move to exclude the entire deposition of Dr. Pasternack (R.A. 1227-1230) that request was not heard until May 6, 1986, and was not granted. (R.A. 1332-1334). Neither the Motion nor the Memorandum of Law in Support of the Motion (R.A. 1227-1230, 1233-1245) refer to Florida Statutes §90.704.

Respondents' contended at the summary judgment hearing that the deposition of the treating physician, former party defendant Gerald Greenwald, M.D. (R.A. 2321-2497), disposed of the issue of adequacy of and need for instructions or warnings regarding the use of Accutane in this case (R.A. 1397-1405), and therefore shifted any possible blame for what occurred away from Respondents. Respondents contended that the doctor's self assessed but disputed level of knowledge with reference to Accutane or products with similar components (R.A. 2432-2434,

2461, 2471-2472, 2494) rendered warnings irrelevant (R.A. 1409-1410). Petitioner's position was that what the treating physician may have known generally about the drug, first introduced into the market a few months prior to its ingestion by Petitioner (R.A. 3902, 2430) is one thing; what he was or was not advised would be required because of hazards involved in the use of it is another thing. In addition, under the facts and circumstances existing in this case, including primarily cosmetic benefit weighed against risks, Petitioner contended she was entitled to a jury trial on whether the drug should have been marketed at all.

There is evidence of record that the drug should not have even been on the market (R.A. 3429-3432; 3565-3567; various deposition exhibits stressing the extreme dangers of the drug). There is also evidence of record that Respondents failed to comply with FDA labeling requirements in distributing the drug (R.A. 3945-3953), and that Respondent Hoffmann knew and had reason to know of these shortcomings and risks which it concealed in the wording used in its package inserts in 1982 (R.A. 3508-3511; the various Exhibits evidencing pre-marketing, conclusive proof of the teratogenicity of isotretinoin, the human metabolism studies described in Exhibit 21 demonstrating the body's transformation of the cis-isomer to the trans isomer [100% teratogenic test results after human ingestion; 3514; 2241-2246).

C. Incomplete Discovery

With reference to written discovery requests to Respondents, at the time of entry of Final Summary Judgment for Respondents, Petitioner's Request to Produce to Appellee Wachman filed May 2,



1986 (R.A. 3469-2471) had not been responded to, and Petitioner's Motions to Compel directed to Respondents Hoffmann (R.A. 3463-3465) and Wachman (R.A. 3466-3468) as to prior discovery had not been heard.

The following exemplifies time and effort devoted by counsel for the Court to preliminary discovery covering a period of more than a year and a half. Also included are explanations of some factors which seriously impeded discovery proceedings for Petitioner.

Between September, 1984 and October 26, 1984, counsel for Petitioner propounded four Requests to Produce to Respondent Hoffmann. Three initial Requests to Produce (R.A. 15-17, 18-21, and 22-24) were served just after the original complaint and the fourth separately (R.A. 40-41).

Between September, 1984 and February 27, 1985, counsel for Petitioner propounded four sets of Interrogatories to Respondent Hoffmann.

Respondent Hoffmann's objections to discovery were first filed October 18, 1984 (R.A. 32-33), and thereafter Hoffmann filed a Motion to Extend Time to Respond (R.A. 63-64). On February 12, 1985, Petitioner filed two Motions to Compel Hoffmann to Answer the First Set of Interrogatories (R.A. 108-121) and the Second Set of Interrogatories (R.A. 97-107) served October 22, 1984, the subject of which included basic corporate information and information regarding testing, reporting and marketing Accutane. On February 22, 1985, Petitioner noted that amending the complaint to add party defendants was being delayed by overdue discovery from Hoffmann

(R.A. 205-206). On March 4, 1985, the Court entered an Order requiring Answers to Interrogatories and Responses to Requests to Produce within a time certain (R.A. 1203-1205). On March 14, 1985, Petitioner filed a Motion to Compel answers to the Third Set of Interrogatories (R.A. 230-259), the subject of which included New Drug Applications, Safety and Effectiveness. On April 9, 1985, two Orders were entered requiring responses by Hoffmann within a time certain (R.A. 392-394, 395-397). Six days later, Petitioner filed a Motion to Compel Better Answers to Interrogatories (R.A. 402-403). On May 3, 1985, Hoffmann filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Petitioner's Motion to Compel (R.A. 414-421). A non-evidentiary hearing was held May 6, 1985 (R.A. 471-522), (see specifically pages 497-498), and thereafter Petitioner filed a Memorandum regarding discovery on the subject of warnings (R.A. 535-539). On May 29, 1985, Hoffmann was ordered to produce better Answers (R.A. 593-596), and the next day Petitioner agreed to an Order allowing Hoffmann time to May 28, 1985, to respond to discovery (R.A. 588). On June 5, 1985, Petitioner filed a Motion to Strike Objections and to Determine Sufficiency of Hoffmann's Responses to Requests for Admissions (R.A. 635-637). On June 13, 1985, the Court entered a nunc pro tunc Order as to Motions for Protective Order (R.A. 664-667), and another Order requiring a Special Master to deal with discovery matters (R.A. 668-672). On June 18, 1985, Hoffmann served notice of serving Supplemental Answers to Interrogatories (R.A. 679-694).

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