IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 71,633 **On Discretionary Review** JUN 8 1988 from the District Court of Appeal **CLERIC SUR** of Florida, Third District LIVE COURT Deputy Clerk

0/a 6-20-88

YOLANDA FELIX, as Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF KEVIN FELIX-BAPTISTE,

Petitioner,

- versus -

HOFFMANN-LAROCHE INC., ROCHE BIOMEDICAL LABORATORIES, INC., BINDLEY-WESTERN INDUSTRIES, INC., GRAY DRUG STORES, INC. OF MIAMI, GRAY DRUG STORES, INC., THE SHERWIN WILLIAMS COMPANY, and LESTER M. WACHMAN,

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Accutane is not and cannot be unreasonably dangerous per se under a strict liability/design defect/risk benefit analysis because public policy dictates that prescription drug manufacturers be excepted from the doctrine of strict liability and, instead, be governed by the principles contained in Comment k. to S402 A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts. Moreover, FDA approval of Accutane conclusively establishes that the benefit outweighs the risk.

There is no issue of material fact concerning the adequacy of the warning accompanying Accutane because it described the exact side effect, that is, birth defects, which plaintiff experienced.

There is no fact issue concerning fraudulent misrepresentations to the Food Drug Administration because the information in the Accutane package insert in effect at the time that Felix was prescribed Accutane was complete and accurate based on existing scientific knowledge.

Any inadequacy of Roche's warning was not a legal cause of plaintiff's injury because the prescribing doctor knew all about the teratogenic potential of Accutane from research sources independent of Roche. Consequently, his decision to prescribe was not affected by the Roche warning.

Felix's contention that Roche package inserts revised subsequent to the discovery of birth defects in the Felix infant should be admitted as proof of negligence or inadequacy of the warning is fallacious because of the applicability of the subsequent remedial measures rule which renders such evidence inadmissible. Inadmissible evidence cannot be considered by a trial judge in opposition to a motion for summary judgment.

-11-

The court did not abuse its discretion in striking the affidavit and deposition of Fred O. Pasternack and excluding him as an expert because he was not qualified as an expert in the field in which he was asked to give expert testimony and he was not employed in that field at the time his opinions were given.

Entry of summary judgment was not improper on account of plaintiff's claimed lack of discovery because any such lack of discovery was the result of plaintiff's counsel's inexcusable inaction. The special master appointed specifically to hear discovery matters so found.

ARGUMENT

SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPER BECAUSE NO ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT REMAINED TO BE DECIDED.

Introduction.

Felix contended in her jurisdictional brief that the decision below conflicted with holdings in Tampa Drug Co. v. Wait, 103 So.2d 603 (Fla. 1958), Lake v. Konstantinu, 189 So.2d 171 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966), MacMurdo v. Upjohn Co., 444 So.2d 449 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983) and Ricci v. Parke-Davis & Co., 491 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Roche continues to maintain that this Court is without jurisdiction because, as argued in Roche's brief on jurisdiction, the facts of those cases were materially distinguishable and, in all events, the holdings related to the particular warnings in question, that is, none of the cases expressly held that adequacy of a warning in a prescription drug case is always a fact issue. Moreover, the Court of Appeal affirmed the summary judgment on an additional ground as to which no conflict was asserted, that is, that any alleged inadequacy in the Accutane warning was not a legal cause of the decision to prescribe and the injuries complained of. Accordingly, there is no conflict between the decision of the Court of Appeal and the cited cases even if there is conflict in parts of the opinions.

All of the arguments presented to this court in Felix's brief on the merits were presented to the District Court of Appeal. The Court of Appeal found only two worthy of consideration, that is, whether the warnings about Accutane's teratogenic potential in the June 1982 package insert and physician's desk reference could be and were adequate as a matter of law and whether, in any event, the warning had any causal connection with the physician's decision to prescribe the drug.

One of the arguments advanced by Felix is that Accutane was defective because its risks of harm outweighed its benefit to the public at large. Roche contends, as discussed, *infra*, that a prescription drug manufacturer's liability is governed by Comment k. to \$402 A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts which excludes a design defect/risk-benefit analysis. By focusing on and applying principles of law derived from Comment k., the Court of Appeal implicitly adopted this view although the design defect issue was not discussed in the opinion.

The other points of error advanced by Felix here and in the Court of Appeal are, as follows: (1) a fact issue existed concerning Roche's misrepresentations to the FDA; (2) error in refusing to consider as evidence subsequent revisions to Roche's package insert; (3) error in excluding Mr. Pasternack as an expert; (4) incomplete discovery. If the Court of Appeal was correct in affirming based on adequacy of the warning, no legal cause and implicit rejection of the design defect/risk-benefit analysis, then any error with respect to the remaining arguments is irrelevant because the result would not change.

-13-

Principles Applicable to Prescription Drug Product Liability.

The seminal issues in a products liability suit are product defectiveness and legal cause. West v. Caterpiller Tractor Company, Inc., 336 So.2d 80, 86 (Fla. 1976); Royal v. Black & Decker Mfg., Co., 205 So.2d 307, 309 (Fla. 3d DCA 1967). Prescriptions drugs such as Accutane are among those "unavoidably unsafe" products whose utility and benefits outweigh their risks. Restatement (Second) of Torts, Section 402A, Comment k. (adopted as the law in Florida in West, supra.). This determination is made initially by the FDA which is empowered, through delegation of authority from the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services, to approve an application for a new drug to be made available for prescription by physicians to the public at large. 21 U.S.C. § 355; 21 C.F.R. §5.10(a). An unavoidably unsafe prescription drug whose benefits have been determined by the FDA to outweigh its risks is not defective nor unreasonably dangerous if it is accompanied by proper directions and warnings of risks attendant to its use. Comment k.

Unlike over-the-counter drugs and other consumer items, prescription drugs are dispensed pursuant to prescriptions from physicians. The decision to prescribe a particular drug is within the medical judgment of the doctor; accordingly, it is the doctor who needs to know about the characteristics of the drug. Buckner v. Allergan Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 400 So.2d 820 (Fla 5th DCA 1981), adopted in Florida the widely recognized principle that, in the case of prescription drugs, the manufacturer's duty to give proper directions and warning is to the prescribing physician, not the consuming patient.

> Pharmaceutical companies then ... in selling prescription drugs are required to warn only the prescribing physician, who acts as a "learned intermediary" between manufacturer and consumer.

440 So.2d at 822.

-14-

No Fact Issue as to Whether Accutane Should Have Been Marketed.

Felix first argues that this record presents a fact issue as to whether Accutane was so dangerous that it should not have been marketed at all. Felix contends that support for her position is found in Comment i to Section 402A, Restatement (Second) of Torts, and in *Reyes v. Wyeth Laboratories*, 498 F.2d 1264 (5th Cir. 1974). Comment i, however, merely defines the concept of "unreasonably dangerous." It clearly applies to products, unlike prescription drugs, which are avoidably unsafe. Comment k, relating to unavoidably unsafe products, is applicable to the analysis of a prescription drug as indicated in the text of Comment k, itself. $\frac{7}{}$

Felix's statement on page 22 that one of the factors in determining the "degree of danger" of a prescription drug is a reasonable man's ordinary expectations is false because it is the expectation of the prescribing physician, trained in the uses of drugs to treat physical ailments, which is relevant, not the expectation of a "reasonable man" who could not possibly be "expected" to comprehend the pharmacological process of a drug without guidance and explanation from his

^{7/} Comment k. provides in pertinent part:

There are some products which, in the present state of human knowledge, are quite incapable of being made safe for their intended and ordinary use. These are specially common in the field of drugs. * * Such a product, properly prepared, and accompanied by proper directions and warning, is not defective, nor is it unreasonably dangerous. The same is true of many other drugs, vaccines, and the like, many of which for this very reason, cannot legally be sold except to physicians, or under the prescription of a physician. (Emphasis added).

prescribing physician. See, Brown v. Superior Court (Abbott Laboratories), 751 P.2d 470 (Cal. 1988) in which the California Supreme Court expressly rejected Felix's premise, 751 P.2d at 477. See also, Buckner v. Allergan Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 400 So.2d 820 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981). Felix further compounds the error by mis-citing Buckner for the proposition that both a patient ("ultimate consumer") and prescribing physician must be made aware of the dangerous propensities of the drug. Brief of petitioner, n. 2, p. 22. Buckner plainly holds that the manufacturer's obligation is to warn the medical community not the ultimate consumer. 440 So.2d at 822.

Reyes v. Wyeth Laboratories is a thirty page opinion in which the manufacturer of a polio vaccine was found liable to the plaintiff who contracted polio from the vaccine itself. The vaccine had been administered by a clinic through a non-physician. At 498 F.2d 1294 the court discusses "per se" liability based on a risk/benefit analysis. The court then disposes of the issue by simply taking notice of the fact that the benefit of polio vaccine outweighs its potential for harm. Thus, per se liability was not a basis for affirming the jury verdict against the manufacturer.

The risk/benefit analysis mentioned in dicta in Reyes has been expressly rejected in the case of prescription drugs in two recent cases from the state of California. In Brown v. Superior Court (Abbott Laboratories), 751 P.2d 470 (Cal. 1988), the court determined that prescription drug manufacturers should not be subjected to the traditional concepts of strict liability on the basis of the argument that a particular drug is defectively designed because the risk of harm in individual cases outweighs the benefit to the public at large. Instead, the court concluded that prescription drugs should be analyzed under Comment k. to Section

-16-

402 A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts which assumes that, although prescription drugs are unavoidably unsafe, their benefits outweigh their risks so that a manufacturer's liability will depend only on whether the warning accompanying the drug is adequate to convey the danger. The court reasoned that exposing drug manufacturers to strict liability based on a jury finding that the risks attendant to a drug outweighed its benefits under a design defect analysis would cause reluctance on the part of manufacturers to engage in research and development of new pharmaceuticals. Moreover, such a policy would drive up the cost of insurance, if available at all, and of additional research necessary to try to discover every possible risk associated with a potentially beneficial drug and could place the cost of the drug beyond the reach of those who most need it. 751 P.2d at 479. For these reasons the court adopted Comment k. as applicable to all prescription drugs to the exclusion of a design defect analysis under strict liability.

> In conclusion and in accord with almost all our sister states that have considered the issue, we hold that a manufacturer is not strictly liable for injuries caused by a prescription drug so long as the drug was properly prepared and accompanied by warnings of its dangerous propensities that were either known or reasonably scientifically knowable at the time of distribution.

Collins v. Karoll, 231 Cal. Rptr. 396 (Cal. App. 1986), reached the same result and cited the same policy factors but concluded that the design defect/risk-benefit analysis is conclusively decided in favor of the manufacturer when the FDA approves a new drug application after completing its thorough analysis.

When the FDA then determines, based on such testing, that a prescription drug or device is 'generally' safe *if* accompanied by warnings of the risks and side effects identified in the product testing, this determination logically equates to a finding that the product is unavoidably unsafe, i.e., it is as safe as it can be made, given present knowledge and capability, but retains a risk which cannot be avoided but can be warned against. 231 Cal. Rptr. at 404. The court's ultimate conclusion was that:

["W]hether the interest in availability (again measured as of the time of distribution) outweighs the interest in promoting enhanced accountability through strict liability design defect review" [citation omitted] has been answered by the FDA's approval of the prescription product in favor of availability.

231 Cal. Rptr. at 406. The court emphasized that the holding was limited to instances where, as here, the plaintiff is injured "in precisely the manner about which the manufacturer had warned \ldots ."

These cases stand for the proposition that a prescription drug manufacturer's liability will be measured by the Comment k. standard, not a design defect/risk-benefit analysis which is not contemplated by Comment k. The California courts view Comment k. as an exception to strict liability. Whether it is an exception to or an extension of the doctrine, the well-reasoned policy considerations set out in *Brown* and *Collins* for limiting prescription drug manufacturer's liability to the parameters of Comment k. are compelling.

Notwithstanding the non-applicability of the design defect argument, none of the recitations to evidence in the record set out in footnotes 1 through 3 on page 24 of petitioner's brief bring into question whether Accutane's risks outweighed its benefits. The quoted article in footnote 1 by Dr. Benke merely states that Accutane's "potential teratogenicity [in humans] was well known" based on birth defects in newborn animals. Roche fully agrees, and the applicable warning so states. There is no opinion or even suggestion by Dr. Benke that the risk of birth defects was so great that Accutane should not be marketed. Felix's reference to the affidavit of James O'Donnell is totally inappropriate and should be stricken from her brief because O'Donnell's affidavit was filed after the hearing and rehearing on Roche's motion for summary judgment and, presumably

-18-

for that reason, was not raised or argued as a basis for reversal in the District Court of Appeal. $\frac{8}{}$ The affidavit and deposition of Mr. Pasternack were stricken from the record by order dated May 7, 1986. (R 1332.) The correctness of that order is discussed *infra*.

On page 25 Felix then suggests that FDA approval of Accutane was based only on "limited data" supplied by Roche and refers to deposition exhibit 17 which is quoted in footnote 15 at page 44. Deposition exhibit 17, however, was never filed in this record, was never raised as a basis for denial of summary judgment to the trial judge and, presumably because it is not in the record, was never brought to the attention of the appellate court. It is axiomatic that matters and things not in the record before the reviewing court cannot be argued as a basis for reversal of an inferior court decision. Williams v. Albritton, 190 So. 423, 139 Fla. 195 (Fla. 1939); Altchiler v. State Dept. of Professional Regulation, Div. of Professions, Bd. of Dentistry, 442 So.2d 349 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) ("That an appellate court may not consider matters outside the record is so fundamental that there is no excuse for any attorney to attempt to bring such matters before the court." 442 So.2d at 350). Felix, the party seeking review, had the obligation to insure proper preparation and submission of the record to the appellate court and to this Court. Cameron v. Sconiers, 393 So.2d 11 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); Tesher & Tesher v. Rothfield, 387 So.2d 499 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980).

For the statement on page 25 that Roche's premarketing research was inadequate, Felix cites to page 3514 of the record which is a supplemental affi-

 $[\]frac{8}{}$ The hearing occurred on May 8, 1986. R 1389. The rehearing began on June 11 and concluded on June 12, 1986. R 3579, 3594. O'Donnell's affidavit was filed on July 23, 1986. R 3565.

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